

## HANDBOOK FOR CITY OF NEWPORT BEACH BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES

Prepared by: Office of the City Manager Office of the City Attorney Office of the City Clerk

### **Table of Contents**

	Page
HOW CITY GOVERNMENT WORKS City Charter	1
City Council	
Boards, Commissions, and Committees	
City Organizational Chart	
Ralph M. Brown Act ("Brown Act")	5
Due Process Requirements	9
Political Reform Act	10
Robert's Rules of Order	14
BCC 101 Enabling Legislation or Documents	17
Oath of Office	17
BCC Records	17
Orientation	18
Types of Meetings, Agendas, Minutes and Procedures	18
Absences, Leaves of Absence, and Resignations	20
Vacancies	21
Disclosure of Financial Interests	21
MASTERING YOUR ROLE Role of the BCC Chairperson	23
Role of BCC Members	23
Role of City of Newport Beach Staff	24
BEING AN EFFECTIVE MEMBER OF A BCC Preparing Ahead for the Meeting	27
Developing Collegial Relationships	28
Managing How You Communicate	29
Encouraging and Honoring Public Participation	
Special Tips for the Chairperson	31
Managing Difficult Public Meetings	34
APPENDIX Appendix A: Appendix of Disclosure Categories	35

#### <u>Page</u>

## How City Government Works



### **City Charter**

Newport Beach is a "Charter" City as contrasted to a "General Law" City. Under California law, the authority of a general law City is derived only from the powers granted to it by the general laws adopted by the State Legislature pertaining to the organization and operation of a municipality, and from the police power granted to it by the State Constitution. On the other hand, a charter City's power is not defined or limited by the State's general laws. Instead, with respect to municipal affairs, a charter City's powers are defined by the City's own charter, subject only to the limitations of the State Constitution. As a result, charter cities usually have more operational latitude than do the more prevalent general law cities. A charter serves as the City's "constitution" and may only be amended by a vote of the people. The City's Charter may be viewed at newportbeachca.gov/nbmc.

Newport Beach's Charter became effective January 7, 1955, and has been amended by popular vote on several subsequent occasions. Pursuant to Section 300 of the Newport Beach Charter, the City follows a Council-City Manager form of government. The City's organizational structure is outlined in the chart on page 3.

### City Council

The City Charter provides for an elected, seven-member City Council as the governing body of the City. There is one Council Member elected from each of the seven City districts.

Alternatively, and successively, four seats (Districts 1, 3, 4 and 6) are filled at one General Municipal Election and three seats (Districts 2, 5 and 7) are filled at the next General Municipal Election. The City Council Member's term of office is four years. The Mayor is selected annually by the City Council.

## How City Government Works

The City Council holds two regular meetings per month, commencing at 4:00 p.m. or as otherwise scheduled due to the demand of business, except in the months of August and December when there is only one regular meeting required to be held by the City Charter. Meetings are held in the City Council Chambers located at 100 Civic Center Drive, Newport Beach, California, 92660. In addition, special meetings and study sessions are held from time-to-time as the need arises.

The City Council has the power to make and enforce all laws and regulations relating to municipal affairs, subject to the limitations of the City Charter, the United States and California Constitutions, and certain State statutes.

# Boards, Commissions, and Committees

Boards, Commissions, and Committees ("BCCs") serve an important role in City governance and serve as the City Council's advisory bodies, or in some instances as decision-makers. Some advisory bodies are created by the City Charter, while others are created by Resolution, Ordinance, or other City Council action.

Unless otherwise stated in the enabling documentation of the BCC, members of an advisory body are appointed by the City Council from the qualified electors of the City, none of whom shall hold any paid office or employment in City government, and shall serve for no more than two consecutive four year terms, exclusive of a prior appointment to fill an unexpired term. The City's policy regarding service on BCCs is contained in City Council Policy A-2.



#### **City Organizational Chart**



\*Pursuant to Contract No. 4961, the City Council selects one appointment to serve on this non-City committee.

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK





### Ralph M. Brown Act ("Brown Act")

#### What is the Brown Act?

The Ralph M. Brown Act is a California sunshine law that ensures that all meetings of local legislative bodies are open and public, and that all members of the public have the opportunity to attend such meetings. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54950.)

#### When does the Brown Act apply?

The Brown Act applies to meetings of local legislative bodies, such as the City Council and BCC. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54952.) The City's policy regarding the Brown Act is contained in City Council Policy A-1.

#### What is a meeting?

A meeting is any discussion among a majority of the members of a BCC (*e.g.*, 3 out of 5 members of a BCC) of any topic within the BCC's jurisdiction. (Cal. Gov.Code § 54952.2(a).) A meeting can take place face-to-face, teleconference, over the phone, in a chat room, or even by E-mail. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54953(b).)

Here are two forms of communication that may result in a meeting:

1. <u>Chain</u>: If BCC member A contacts BCC member B, and BCC member B contacts BCC member C, and CC member C contacts BCC member D, and so on until a majority of the BCC members have been contacted and a collective concurrence has been formed, then a meeting has taken place.



2. <u>Hub-and-spoke</u>: If an intermediary, such as a staff member, contacts a majority of the BCC members about their positions on a matter within the BCC's jurisdiction, in order to form a collective concurrence, then a meeting has taken place.

(Cal. Gov. Code §§ 54952.2(b)(1); (2).)

HELPFUL TIP: To avoid an accidental meeting, please use "bcc" when sending E-mails to multiple BCC members, and do not hit "Reply All" in E-mail threads with other BCC members.

#### What is not a meeting?

There are six exceptions to the Brown Act's definition of a meeting:

- 1. Individual contacts or conversations;
- 2. Seminars or conferences that are open to the public;
- 3. Community meetings that are open and publicized;
- 4. Attending a meeting of a different legislative body;
- 5. Social or ceremonial occasions; and
- Attending a BCC's standing committee solely as an observer (*e.g.*, no comments or questions).
  (Cal. Gov. Code § 54952 2(c).)

(Cal. Gov. Code § 54952.2(c).)

## Are there exceptions to the Brown Act's requirements?

Yes, in a few instances, such as threats to public safety, property acquisition, anticipated litigation, labor negotiations, or reviews of audit reports - closed meetings may be permissible. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54956.7 et seq.)

\*\*Please contact the City Attorney's Office prior to relying upon an exception to the Brown Act.\*\*

What can be discussed at a meeting?

The only topics that may be discussed at a meeting are those that have been described in a properly posted and publicized agenda. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54954.2(a)(1).)

How far in advance must the agenda be posted?

- 1. <u>Regular Meeting</u>: 72 hours (Cal. Gov. Code § 54954.2(a)(1).)
- 2. <u>Special Meeting</u>: 24 hours (Cal. Gov. Code § 54956(a).)
- 3. <u>Emergency Meeting</u>: There is no specific notice requirement, but the BCC should do everything it can to give the public at least one hour notice. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54956.5(b)(1).)

The public's place on the agenda.

A meeting agenda must allow an opportunity for members of the public to speak on any item of interest that is within the BCC's jurisdiction.

In addition, the public must be allowed to speak on a specific item of business before or during the BCC's consideration of the item. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54954.3(a).)

#### Addressing the public at a meeting.

BCC members may give a limited response to items raised by the public during a meeting, but no topic should be discussed in detail unless it appears on a properly noticed agenda. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54954.2(a)(3).) If an important issue is raised that is not on the agenda, it may be placed on the agenda for the next meeting.





## When may items be added to the current meeting's agenda?

In rare instances, if two-thirds of the BCC members vote that there is a need to take immediate action on an item that came to their attention after the current meeting's agenda had already been made, that item may be added to the current meeting's agenda instead of waiting to put it on the agenda for the next meeting. In such circumstances, the item must be publicly identified, and the public must have a reasonable opportunity to speak on it. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54954.2(b).) \*\*This exception is only available in very limited situations.\*\*

#### What happens if the Brown Act is violated?

If a BCC violates the Brown Act, the District Attorney or any other interested party may issue a written demand that the BCC correct the violation. If the BCC does not correct the violation on its own, the interested party may sue for a court order correcting the violation. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54960.)

In addition, if the District Attorney determines that the BCC intended to deprive the public of information, then the violating BCC members may be criminally prosecuted. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54959.)



### Due Process Requirements

Due process is a legal requirement that protects the rights of members of the public by providing notice and an opportunity to be heard prior to taking a governmental action.

#### Why is due process relevant to BCCs?

BCCs sometimes act in a role similar to that of judges when they administer City business, such as code and zoning enforcement, permitting, and fee assessment. When a BCC acts in a quasi-judicial role, they are required to provide due process to the members of the public whom their decisions affect. (*Mohilef v. Janovici* (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 267, 276.)

#### What does due process require?

At the bare minimum, due process requires two things:

- <u>Notice</u>: Notification that is reasonably calculated to apprise interested parties of the action and afford them the right to be heard. (*D & M Fin. Corp. v. City of Long Beach* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 165,174.)
- 2. <u>Hearing</u>: A fair opportunity for the affected parties to hear the evidence against them and a chance to controvert that evidence with evidence of their own before an impartial decision-maker. (*Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, 1025.)

## What due process rules should you keep in mind?

 The City has the burden to prove the alleged violation is more likely than not to have taken place. (*Leppo v. City of Petaluma* (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 711, 718.)



- 2. The same notice that is due to a property owner is due to the property owner's tenant, if any. DO NOT rely on the property owner to provide notice to the tenant. The City is responsible for providing such notice.
- 3. After a party has exhausted all of the options provided by municipal procedure, they have ninety days to seek judicial review of their case from a court. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.6(b).) The City is responsible for notifying the party of this right and the time limit for exercising it. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.6(f).) The ninety-day time limit does not begin until the City provides the required notice. (*Donnellan v. City of Novato* (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 1097, 1102.)

NOTE: To ensure a person's Due Process Rights are being respected, it is important to keep an open mind and not decide a matter before all of the evidence is presented.

### **Political Reform Act**

#### What is the Political Reform Act?

The Political Reform Act is a body of law that prohibits public officials from making, participating in making, or in any way attempting to use their official position to influence a governmental decision in which they know or have reason to know they have a conflict. (Cal. Gov. Code § 87100.) The City's policy regarding the PRA is contained in City Council Policy A-3.

#### Who is a public official?

Generally, a person is a public official if he or she is an elected or appointed City official, a member of a BCC, or an employee or consultant who manages public investments. (2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18700 *et seq.*)



#### What is a conflict?

A public official has a conflict if it is reasonably foreseeable that a decision he or she makes will have a material financial effect, distinguishable from its effect on the public generally, on the public official, a member of his or her immediate family, or on certain other financial interests. (2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18700(a).)

#### How do you know if you have a conflict?

The Fair Political Practices Commission ("FPPC") employs an eight step test to determine if a conflict exists:

- 1. Is the individual a public official?
- 2. Is the public official making, participating in making, or influencing a governmental decision?
- 3. Does the public official have one of the qualifying types of economic interest?
- 4. Is the economic interest directly or indirectly involved in the governmental decision?
- 5. Will the governmental decision have a material financial effect on the public official's economic interests?
- 6. Is it reasonably foreseeable that the economic interest will be materially affected?
- 7. Is the effect of the governmental decision on the public official's economic interests distinguishable from its effect on the public generally?
- 8. Despite a disqualifying conflict of interest, is the public official's participation legally required?

Special rule for appointed BCC members.

Appointed public officials may not accept, solicit, or direct a contribution of more than \$250 from anyone who is applying for a license, permit, or other entitlement from the City. Appointed officials also may not accept, solicit, or direct a contribution of more than \$250 from anyone who has received a license, permit, or other entitlement from the City in the last three months. (Cal. Gov. Code § 84308(b).)

IMPORTANT: If an applicant comes before an appointed public official's BCC who has already made a donation of more than \$250 to the appointed public official in the last twelve months, the public official must publicly disclose the donation and then recuse him or herself from the proceeding. However, the public official may avoid recusal by returning the gift to the applicant within thirty days of learning of the conflict. (Cal. Gov. Code § 84308(c).)

Are there exceptions to the Political Reform Act?

There are two exceptions:

**Public Generally:** Even if a governmental decision will have a reasonably foreseeable material effect on the public official's economic interests, the public official does not have a disqualifying conflict if the effect is indistinguishable from the effect that the decision will have on the public generally. (2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18703(a).) \*\*This exception is only available in very limited situations.\*\*

**Necessity:** If the public official's participation in making a decision is legally required, then he or she is not disqualified from participating, despite his or her conflict of interest. (Cal. Gov. Code § 87101.)\*\*This exception is only available in very limited situations.\*\*

IMPORTANT: The fact that the public official's vote is needed to break a tie does not qualify his or her participation as legally required. (Cal. Gov. Code § 87101; 2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18705(c)(1).) In addition, the necessity exception may not be invoked if a quorum can be convened of other BCC members who are not disqualified from voting, regardless of whether such other members are actually present at the time of the disqualification. (2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18705(c)(2).)





## What do you do if you have a conflict and no exception applies?

When a public official determines that he or she has a conflict that necessitates disgualification under the PRA, the public official must publicly announce the specific financial interest that is the source of the disqualification. (Cal. Gov. Code § 87105(a); 2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18707.) Partial absence from a meeting does not excuse the official's public identification of the applicable conflict. If an official leaves a meeting in advance of the agenda item in which the official is disgualified, the official must publicly announce the agenda item and the financial interest prior to leaving the meeting. An official first joining a meeting after the consideration of an agency item in which the official is disqualified must publicly announce the agenda item and the financial interest immediately after joining the meeting. (2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18707(a)(2).)

After announcing the conflict, the public official must leave the room during any discussion or deliberations on the matter in question, and the public official may not participate in the decision or be counted for purposes of a quorum. (Cal. Gov. Code § 87105(a)(3); 2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18707(a)(3).) The requirement to "leave the room" does not apply to items on the consent calendar. (2 Cal. Code Regs. § 18707(a)(3).)

## Who can help you determine if you have a conflict?

The FPPC has a full-time staff and several resources available to assist public officials on the Political Reform Act. The FPPC may be contacted via its website, <u>www.fppc.ca.gov</u>, or by phone at 1-866-ASK-FPPC.

IMPORTANT: The City Attorney's Office cannot provide immunity from Political Reform Act violations. Only formal written advice from the FPPC can provide such immunity. (Cal. Gov. Code § 83114(b).)



### Robert's Rules of Order

How is City business conducted?

In general, City business is conducted according to Robert's Rules of Order. (City Council Policy A-1.)

IMPORTANT: Failure to strictly follow Robert's Rules of Order does not affect a BCC's jurisdiction or invalidate any otherwise proper action that the BCC takes.

#### What are Robert's Rules of Order?

Robert's Rules of Order are traditional rules of parliamentary procedure used by governments and private organizations throughout the world.

#### What is the purpose of Robert's Rules of Order?

The purpose of Robert's Rules of Order is to establish a process so that meetings and hearings can be conducted in a clear, open, and fair manner. In addition, Robert's Rules of Order are designed to ensure that the will of the majority is enforced, while still protecting the rights of the minority.

What is the basic format for a discussion under Robert's Rules of Order?

Meetings conducted under Robert's Rules of Order generally follow this basic format:

- 1. The meeting is governed by a published agenda.
- 2. Topics are addressed in the order in which they appear on the agenda.
- Discussion is taken on topics that receive a motion and a second.
  NOTE: Seconding the motion does not necessarily mean that the BCC member supports the motion; it means that the BCC member wants the motion to be considered.
- 4. The Chairperson should clarify the motion to make sure that the motion is understood by the BCC members and anyone else who wishes to participate in the discussion.

- 5. Following discussion and public comment, if any, the BCC members may vote on the motion.
- 6. The result of the vote should be announced by the Chairperson. The announcement should state the number of votes on each side, as well as the ultimate outcome (*e.g.*, "The motion passes by a vote of 3-2. We have passed the motion to require ten days' notice for all future meetings of this BCC.")

#### What are the basic types of motions?

There are three basic types of motions:

- <u>Main Motion</u>: A basic motion is a motion that initially puts forward a decision for consideration by the BCC (*e.g.*, "I move to consider item 'X," or "I move staff's recommendation.")
- 2. <u>Motion to Amend</u>: A motion to amend is a motion to change a basic motion that is under consideration without doing away with the original motion in its entirety (*e.g.*, "I move to consider items 'X' and 'Y.")
- 3. <u>Motion to Substitute</u>: A motion to substitute is a motion to completely do away with the motion currently under discussion and put an entirely new motion before the BCC (*e.g.*, "I move to consider item '12.")

NOTE: Motions are considered from last to first (*e.g.*, a motion to amend is considered before the basic motion that it is amending).

NOTE: A BCC may not have more than three motions before it at the same time. After three, the BCC should vote on the motions before it prior to permitting further motions to be raised.

## What types of motions require super-majority votes?

Most motions are decided by a simple majority vote (*e.g.*, three votes of a five-member BCC). However, some motions require a super-majority vote. Examples of motions that require super-majority votes include:

- Late Breaking Items: In rare instances, if two-thirds of the BCC members vote that there is a need to take immediate action on an item that came to their attention after the current meeting's agenda had already been made, that item may be added to the current meeting's agenda instead of waiting to put it on the agenda for the next meeting. In such circumstances, the item must be publicly identified, and the public must have a reasonable opportunity to speak on it. (Cal. Gov. Code § 54954.2(b).)
- Emergency Ordinances: Any ordinance that the City Council declares necessary as an emergency measure to preserve public peace, health, or safety requires five of the seven City Council votes. (Newport Beach Charter § 412.)

#### What happens if there is a tie vote?

In general, motions can only pass if the majority (or a super-majority, if that is required) votes in favor of them. A tie vote means that the motion fails.

NOTE: Check the bylaws for your BCC, because some BCCs have their own rules regarding tie votes.

#### Can a past motion be reconsidered?

Past motions may be reconsidered in certain circumstances. A motion to reconsider can be raised by any BCC member who voted *in the majority* on the original motion (*e.g.*, if a motion passed on a 3-2 vote, only one of the three BCC members who voted in favor of the motion may bring a motion to reconsider). (Robert's Rules of Order § 37.) Also, the motion to reconsider may only be raised at the same meeting during which the original motion was voted upon or at the very next meeting. (Robert's Rules of Order § 37.) If the motion to reconsider is passed, then the BCC may reconsider the past motion and take a new vote on it.





### **Enabling Legislation or Documents**

The enabling legislation that created the BCC (e.g., City Charter, Ordinance, or Resolution) discusses the qualifications, term of office, and responsibilities of the BCC. This information is located in the City Clerk's Office and can be found on the City's webpage at <u>newportbeachca.gov/bccroster</u>.

### Oath of Office

Following appointment, the City Clerk will administer the Oath of Office in the City Clerk's Office, which states:

I, \_\_\_\_\_\_, do solemnly affirm that I will support and defend the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of California against all enemies, foreign and domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of California; that I take this obligation freely, without any mental reservation or purpose of evasion; and that I will well and faithfully discharge the duties upon which I am about to enter.

### **BCC Records**

BCCs are established by the City Council by either Ordinance, Resolution, or other action of the City Council. Membership is defined in the enabling legislation and all members are appointed by the City Council.

Members are selected:

- On the basis of interest, experience and knowledge in the field pertinent to the BCC.
- To represent a particular segment of the community.



From a broad representation of community interest and expertise.

Most BCCs meet regularly at established times. Some BCCs are defined as technical or special-purpose. They may meet regularly or only when projects or proposals require their attention.

All enabling legislation is located in the City Clerk's Office.

### Orientation

After appointments are made by the City Council, new BCC members will be provided with the most recent BCC Handbook. The BCC's staff liaison will coordinate and conduct an orientation with new appointees. Before or during that orientation, the staff liaison will provide relevant documentation and background information about the specific BCC upon which the new appointee shall serve.

# Types of Meetings, Agendas, Minutes and Procedures

**<u>Regular Meetings</u>**: BCCs should establish meetings as required for the purpose of the body. Meetings are open to the public and are generally held at City Hall, but may be adjourned from time to time to meet elsewhere for specific purposes.

Agendas and minutes shall be prepared, posted and maintained in accordance with all laws and policies of the State of California and the City (*See*, page 5).



Adjourned Meetings: If for any reason, the business to be considered at a regular meeting cannot be completed, the BCC may designate a time and date for an adjourned meeting. Any matter to have been considered at the regular meeting may be processed at an adjourned meeting. But in order to so adjourn, it is necessary that this be announced to the public present at the time of adjournment and so recorded in the minutes. A notice of an adjourned meeting shall be prepared and posted as required by law.

**Special Meetings:** A special meeting may be called by the Chairperson or a majority of the members. Care must always be taken when this is done so that adequate advance notice is given to the BCC members, public, and media. Such notice requires that all interested parties be notified and a notice be posted at least 24 hours in advance of the special meeting. The notice must contain the time and place for such a meeting and the specific subject matter(s) to be considered. Introduction of other items at a special meeting is prohibited.

<u>AD HOC Subcommittees</u>: The Chairperson may appoint special ad hoc subcommittees of less than a quorum of the BCC who meet at the convenience of the subcommittee members to carry out the purpose of the subcommittee. Subcommittees may meet without public notice or input. However, any recommendation of a subcommittee shall be presented for discussion and vote at a public meeting of the BCC.

<u>Agendas and Agenda Packets</u>: Each BCC has an assigned staff person serving as secretary. The secretary is responsible for the preparation and distribution of an agenda and supporting documents prior to each meeting. All open meetings must have an agenda. The agenda must be posted 72 hours before a regular meeting. Check with the BCC's secretary relative to agenda packet deadlines.

Only those items appearing on the agenda should be considered at each meeting. However, in an emergency and on two-thirds vote of those members present or unanimous vote if less than two-thirds of the members are present, an item may be discussed if urgency exists and delay would be detrimental to public interest.



**Minutes:** Minutes are the BCC's official document of record and are permanent records. They are taken at all meetings, transcribed, and included with the next meeting agenda packet. At a minimum, the minutes should be summary minutes. More detailed minutes can be provided at the discretion of the BCC and subject to available resources.

The approved minutes are the vehicle through which the BCC as a whole or its individual members express their interests or opinions. Once approved by the respective BCC, the minutes are uploaded to the City's webpage and the City's document imaging system. (Charter § 704).

**Public Records Laws:** With limited exception, the Government Code of the State of California provides that all official records of the City are open to inspection to any interested citizen at reasonable times. All minutes and supporting documents are public records and must be available for public review with the BCC secretary.

# Absences, Leaves of Absence, and Resignations

<u>Attendance</u>: Pursuant to City Council Policy A-2 – *Boards, Commissions & Committees*, if a BCC member fails to attend three consecutive regular meetings without prior permission by the Chairperson, that member may be considered for replacement. The Chairperson of the advisory body shall inform their staff liaison and/or the City Clerk of such a situation.

**Absences:** Because of quorum requirements, when an absence is anticipated, the individual BCC member is responsible for notifying the Chairperson or the staff liaison in advance.

Leaves of Absence: Leaves of absence are not granted to BCC members except under very unusual circumstances and when authorized in advance by the Chairperson. The Chairperson shall inform the staff liaison and/or the City Clerk of the leave of absence.



### Vacancies

Generally, seats may become vacant in five ways:

- 1. The member's term expires.
- 2. A member resigns during their term, thereby causing an unscheduled vacancy to occur on the BCC.
- 3. The BCC member moves out of his or her district.
- 4. The member absents himself or herself from three consecutive regular meetings.
- 5. The member is removed by the City Council. (Charter § 705.)

If you have any questions regarding vacancies, please contact your staff liaison.

### **Disclosure of Financial Interests**

The City's Conflict of Interest Code was adopted in response to the enactment of the 1974 Political Reform Act ("The Act") In February of 1990, the City updated its Conflict of Interest Code pursuant to Section 18730 of the Regulations adopted by the Fair Political Practices Commission ("FPPC"). The City's Conflict of Interest Code consists of two basic parts:

- 1. The body of the Code which contains the provisions required by Section 87302 of The Act, such as the manner of reporting financial interests and the method to be used by designated positions when they are required to disqualify themselves from participating in decisions; and
- 2. The Appendix of Disclosure Categories lists the designated positions within the agency and the corresponding disclosure categories for each position. (Appendix A).



The City Council, by resolution, designates the positions and the types of financial interests that must be disclosed by persons holding those positions. The extent of disclosure will depend on the types of decisions made by the person in that position. The local conflict of interest code contains the following disclosure categories:

- Category 1 Investments in business entities (e.g., stock holdings, owning a business, a partnership), and positions of management or employment with business entities.
- Category 2 Sources of personal income, including gifts, loans and travel payments.
- Category 3 Interests in real estate (real property).

Public officers disclose their financial interests on a form entitled "Statement of Economic Interests" ("SEI") or "Form 700" issued by the FPPC. SEIs are filed annually, and also within 30 days of taking office or leaving office. SEIs submitted by public officers are public record and are made available for public inspection upon request.

The City makes every effort to designate all BCCs that make governmental decisions in the local conflict of interest code. BCC members whose positions are not designated in the local conflict of interest code who believe their position involve making or participating in a governmental decision should contact their staff liaison. The City Clerk maintains the SEIs filed by the public officers pursuant to the local conflict of interest code. It must be emphasized that, regardless of whether an individual is required to file an SEI, every governmental officer or employee must refrain from making or participating in a governmental decision that has a reasonably foreseeable material financial effect on his or her personal financial interests.

## Mastering Your Role



### Role of the BCC Chairperson

In addition to the BCC member roles, the BCC Chairperson has additional responsibilities.

A good meeting is one that runs on time, completes the agenda, and moves forward using a thoughtful, informed decision-making process. The role of the Chairperson is critical to making this happen.

The Chairperson is a position of confidence and needs to be informed and prepared. The Chair's role is a guide that leads and facilitates the discussion and decisionmaking process in a way where the pros and cons are voiced, the majority prevails, and the minority opinion feels heard.

The Chairperson manages the time of the meeting and keeps things moving. The Chairperson sets the tone for the discussion and creates the structure of that discussion by seeking new information, allowing for a robust airing of opinions, summarizing, checking for readiness to vote, and drawing the discussion to a close in an efficient and fair manner. See "Special Tips for the Chairperson" (See, page 31) for more guidance on this role.

### Role of BCC Members

After appointment by the Council, the City Clerk will present new BCC members with information about their BCC, which includes this Handbook. In addition, the City staff member designated to serve in support of your BCC will schedule an orientation appointment. This is the BCC member's chance to learn more about City government and the scope of responsibility of the BCC to which they have been appointed. In addition to reading this Handbook, (which will answer many of your questions), BCC members should start preparing for their new role by:

1. Reviewing the City's Mission Statement, Organizational Values, and the BCC's bylaws, if any.

## Mastering Your Role

- 2. Reading the information provided during the orientation.
- 3. Getting to know fellow BCC members and staff. Learn the history and "language" of your BCC. Ask about upcoming issues.
- 4. Considering meeting with the Chairperson of your BCC and/or a Council Liaison to learn more about your role and to understand expectations. This will help you focus on the big picture and how you fit in.
- 5. Becoming familiar with basic meeting management and diplomatic decision-making procedures.
- 6. Attending training programs and workshops offered by the City.

### Role of City of Newport Beach Staff

Staff support and assistance is provided, but BCCs do not have supervisory authority over City employees. While they may work closely with BCCs, staff members remain responsible to their immediate supervisors and ultimately to the City Manager. The BCC members are responsible for the functions of the BCC and the Chairperson is responsible for BCC compliance with the policies outlined in this Handbook.

Staff support includes preparation of a summary agenda subject to approval by the Chairperson, preparation of agenda reports providing a brief background of the issue, a list of alternatives, recommendations, and appropriate backup material as necessary. Staff will assist BCCs in the conduct of public meetings and ensure that the business listed on the agenda is addressed. BCC members should have sufficient information to reach decisions based upon a clear explanation of the issues involved. The assigned staff person serves as secretary, insuring that minutes are taken as needed.



## Mastering Your Role

It is important that recommendations that the BCCs wish to communicate to the City Council are made through adopted or approved Council agenda procedures. Staff members will assist the BCC Chairperson to ensure appropriate legal review and City and State legislation is complied with.

NOTE: The City may potentially be liable for harassment committed against their staff by BCC members, members of the public, and other third parties if the City knew or should have known of the harassment and failed to take action to stop the harassment. Thus, it is up to the City and its supervisors to ensure that nobody at BCC meetings engages in harassing conduct.



THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



### Preparing Ahead for the Meeting

Most citizens understand when they apply to serve on a BCC that they will be making a commitment of time to attend meetings, but many are often surprised by the amount of time it takes to prepare properly for a meeting. Being prepared is key to making good decisions and will strengthen the value of your BCC's recommendations.

- Doing your homework and coming ready to participate is critical. This involves setting enough time aside to review thoroughly and consider the entire agenda packet.
- When you receive your agenda packet, read it carefully. Be prepared to discuss fully, evaluate, and act on all matters scheduled for consideration.
- Think about:
  - The number of items and the amount of time necessary to fully consider each item.
  - Those items that may be controversial and what questions are likely to be asked.
  - Difficult procedural items.
  - Issues you know little about.
- Start a list of questions for staff.
- Consider calling or meeting with staff before the meeting to learn more, if need be. Getting more information ahead of time may make your decision-making easier and help move the meeting. Your questions may also alert staff to issues that others may also be pondering. Advance knowledge assists staff with preparing oral reports and adequately addressing the issues during the meeting.
- Show up on time and be ready to work.



### **Developing Collegial Relationships**

Being selected by the City Council to serve on a BCC is a high honor and provides a unique opportunity for genuine public service. Open, honest, and supportive relationships with the City Council, with City staff and fellow members of your BCC will ensure your success and effectiveness.

- The proper channel to contact City staff on items of consideration is through the designated City staff person providing support to your BCC.
- Your attendance at meetings is vital. Recognizing that a scheduling conflict may come up from time to time, commit to attending all the meetings of your BCC. If you are unable to attend, contact the Chairperson and/or staff liaison as soon as possible prior to the meeting. Advance notice of your absence will prevent an unexpected lack of a quorum and may also avoid delays in project or program approvals (See, "Absences," page 20).
- If time permits, attend meetings of other BCCs or the City Council to stay abreast of current City issues.
- Volunteer to lead the group or serve on a subcommittee.
- The City Council looks to its BCCs to be their eyes and ears in Newport Beach. Talk to members of the community about your role, get their input and invite public participation.
- If there are differences that cannot be resolved through the regular meeting process, consider consulting with the appropriate individual(s) next in line in the "chain of command": 1) Staff Liaison or Chairperson, 2) the Department Head, 3) City Manager or Council Liaison.

### Managing How You Communicate

BCC members serve as a communications link between the community, staff, and City Council. You provide a channel for citizen expression. The way in which you communicate matters.

- Balance advocacy and inquiry. Say what you think and why you think it. Seek to understand others. Listen carefully, actively asking questions of inquiry. Know when to dialogue and when to debate.
- Put your stake in the ground so others know where you stand, and be willing and able to move your stake when others influence your position.
- Be crisp, get to the point, share the air time.
- Study and understand Robert's Rules of Order (See, page 14) so that you know how to move an item forward with a motion, how to amend a motion, what motions take precedence over others, *etc.*
- When speaking to the public and/or press, be sure you are honoring any agreements your BCC has about speaking with the press and/or are representing the majority views of your individual BCC. Personal opinions should be clearly identified as such.
- When necessary, agree to disagree. When disagreeing, do so in an agreeable fashion.
- Speak clearly, moving the microphone closer to your mouth so you are sure the public or fellow BCC members can hear you.
- If you communicate using E-mail, do so wisely understanding the Brown Act and the requirements of this Act (*See*, page 5). It is easy to unintentionally violate The Brown Act if you are not familiar with it.



### Encouraging and Honoring Public Participation

Some BCC meetings are well attended by the public and others are not. Nevertheless, it's important to remember that everyone is entitled to his or her own opinions.

Some members of the public are quite used to speaking before a public body, but most are not. Individuals may address the BCC to either present an issue or concern, or to speak for or against an item. This may be the first time they have ever done this, and they may find the experience intimidating. Anxiety can be expressed in a variety of ways, including aggressiveness or forgetfulness. This requires your patience and keeping in mind the following:

- Be fair and consistent. Set reasonable time limits for participation and apply them equally.
- Pay attention to all speakers and actively listen to what they are saying.
- Ask questions for clarification only, avoiding debate or "cross-examining." If there is discussion or debate, it should be among BCC members. Being respectful at all times is a key.
- Think about your body language and what message you may be sending. Disapproving facial expressions, crossed arms, and/or a slumped posture may communicate a message you do not intend to send.
- Provide reasonable follow-up when it is appropriate.

For more tips, read "Special Tips for the Chairperson" (*See*, page 31).



### Special Tips for the Chairperson

The Chairperson's main role is to provide the BCC with group direction and to set the tone for meetings. The Chairperson must balance being strong enough to move the meeting along and democratic enough to involve all members in the meeting. It is a challenge to manage the agenda and the time, utilize parliamentary procedure where appropriate, guide the discussion and process, summarize key decisions and actions, and bring the meeting to an efficient close. The tips below may be a helpful summary and reminder for seasoned Chairs. However, a closer reading of a resource provided by the Institute for Local Government, entitled Understanding the Role of Chair, might be helpful to any new Chairperson (https://www.ca-ilg.org/sites/main/files/fileattachments/understanding\_the\_role\_of\_chair\_nov\_2012 1.pdf).

#### Summary of Tips

Moving the Agenda:

- Remember to explain the public participation process to the audience. (For example: "The BCC will hear first from staff who will present the staff report. BCC questions to staff will follow and then the floor will be open to the public, who may comment on the matter. Following public comment, the matter will come back to the BCC for deliberation and action.")
- Announce each item before discussion begins.
  - Be clear about the purpose of the agenda item.
  - Know the rules yourself. The Chairperson must understand the rules of proceeding.
- Announce and observe specified time limits for each agenda item and/or for the meeting. Honor whatever ground rules the BCC already has in place regarding time for discussion.

- Solicit opinions, feelings, and positions from members.
  - Encourage questions of clarification before a full discussion.
  - > Invite a motion to get the discussion going
  - Summarize points; identify areas of common ground and consensus.
  - Seek new information by using the "round robin" approach.
  - Encourage the generation of alternative solutions.
  - Make sure pros and cons are heard so evaluation is fair.
  - Get full participation without everyone feeling the need to speak.
  - > Keep the discussion focused on the issue.
- Ensure public involvement as appropriate.
  - Honor time allocations; inquire about how many people want to speak in order to gauge time allocations.
  - Be respectful; thank even the most difficult person.
  - Show interest and concern.
  - Provide reasonable follow-up.
- Discourage finger pointing and blame-orientated statements or questions.
  - Protect BCC members and staff from verbal attacks, within the limits of the Brown Act.

Arriving at Efficient Decisions:

- Make sure everyone knows what action is being requested and what action is being discussed.
  - Restate motion(s).
  - Weigh in yourself near the end of the discussion. The Chairperson should play a less active role in the debate, usually speaking last.
- Seek consensus when possible-identify areas of common ground.
- Voting is the business. Be complete. Seek voting readiness.





• In closing voting, remind the majority of the minority's concerns. Announce the vote by stating what decision just got made and what the vote was.

#### Using Parliamentary Procedure:

- Use basic elements: principal motions, amendments to a motion, etc.
- Read "Rosenberg's Rules of Order" for a review of procedures and how to chair a meeting (<u>https://www.cacities.org/Resources/Open-Government/RosenbergText 2011.aspx</u>). View the video, "Parliamentary Procedure Simplified" on the Institute for Local Government website for additional review (<u>https://www.cailg.org/document/parliamentary-proceduresimplified</u>).

## More on How to Manage BCC Member Participation:

- If a BCC member talks too much:
  - > Pause to say, "In the interest of time..."
  - > Offer to summarize.
  - > Deflect to another participant.
  - Ask that before the member speaks, you want to hear from those who have not spoken yet.
- If a BCC member doesn't talk enough:
  - > Ask direct, open ended questions.
  - > Poll the entire BCC one-by-one.
- When language is confrontational:
  - > Paraphrase.
  - Make neutral observations.
  - Call a recess.
- When there are side conversations:
  - Make the observation.
  - > Ask for contributions to the larger group.
  - > Ask them to take it offline.



### Managing Difficult Public Meetings

Here are some additional tips for managing any meeting, but particularly the difficult ones:

- Encourage the designation of a spokesperson for groups.
- Ask staff to make sure there are plenty of extra agendas and staff reports.
- Establish and announce rules before the meeting begins.
- Introduce each item and possible actions.
- Try not to waste time on routine items.
- Encourage speakers to address the BCC and not the audience.
- Discourage clapping and shouting.
- Use recesses to help diffuse hostility.
- Do not seek to avoid, bury, or deny conflict. Strive to contain it.
- Adhere to speaker time limits. Use speaker slips.
- Make sure that all BCC members are addressing each other, through you, and not the audience.
- Consider continuing an item for further discussion if it appears consensus may not be reached.
- Know the difference between "visionaries," "primary leaders," "thoughtful leaders," "bandwagoners," and "naysayers."
- Stay out of the fray rise above the situation.

## Appendix



#### Appendix A

### Appendix of Disclosure Categories

Government Code Section 87200 must disclose all personal investments and business positions in business entities, sources of income and interests in real property within Newport Beach. The original Form 700 is filed with the City Clerk, who sends the original to the FPPC. Positions that fall under this category are City Council Members, Planning Commissioners, the City Manager, the City Attorney, the Finance Director, and Boards and Commissions of newly created agencies.

Additional Disclosure Categories:

- 1. Designated employees whose duties are broad and indefinable must disclose: All investments and business positions in business entities, sources of income, and interests in real property within Newport Beach.
- 2. Designated employees whose duties involve contracting must or purchasing disclose: Investments and business positions in business entities within Newport Beach and income from sources within Newport Beach which manufacture, sell. or provide supplies, materials. books. machinery, services, or equipment.
- 3. Designated employees whose duties involve regulatory powers must disclose: All investments and business positions in business entities within Newport Beach, and income from sources within Newport Beach which are subject to the regulatory, permit, or licensing authority of the City of Newport Beach.
- 4. Designated employees whose decisions may affect real property interests must disclose: Investments and business positions in business entities within Newport Beach, income from sources within Newport Beach which engage in land development, construction, or the acquisition or sale of real property, and all interests in real property.

## Appendix

- 5. Positions which involve City self-insurance benefits must disclose: All interests in real property, investments and business positions in business entities, and sources of income within Newport Beach from:
  - a. Persons or entities which provide services, supplies, materials, machinery, or equipment of the type utilized by the agency.
  - b. Entities which are engaged in the business of insurance including, but not limited to, insurance companies, carriers, holding companies, underwriters, brokers, solicitors, agents, adjusters, claims managers, and actuaries.
  - c. Financial institutions including, but not limited to, banks, savings and loan associations, and credit unions.
  - d. Entities or persons who have filed a claim or have a claim pending against the agency.

\*Consultants shall be included in the list of designated employees and shall disclose pursuant to the broadest disclosure category in the code subject to the following limitation:

Department The Director may determine in writing that a particular consultant, although a "designated position," is hired to perform a range of duties that is limited in scope and thus is not required to fully comply with the disclosure requirements described in this section. Such written determination shall include a description of the consultant's duties and, based upon that description, a statement of the extent of disclosure requirements. The Department Director's determination is a public record and shall be retained for public inspection in the same manner and location as this conflict of interest code.